From Fabrication to Federal Pretext: How the False Narrative
Against Kelly Walker Fueled a National War on Parents

Story Summary

In September 2021, a peaceful parent meeting at Mesquite Elementary in Vail, Arizona was
twisted into an engineered fear campaign. Video and testimony confirmed there were no
threats, restraints, or disruptions—yet officials and police reports invented “zip-tie arrests,”
“hour-long standoffs,” and staff “cowering in fear.” The falsehoods fueled sensational
headlines, were reinforced by Vail School District leaders vowing aggressive prosecution,
and elevated by the National School Board Association in coordination with the White
House and DOJ. Within weeks, Attorney General Merrick Garland issued his Oct. 4 memo
directing the FBI to treat parents as potential “domestic terrorists.” Meanwhile, Walker and
his family faced threats and harassment born of the hoax, even as exculpatory evidence was
ignored. This report shows how a fabricated local story was weaponized into a federal
pretext to silence dissent.

Legal Abstract

The wrongful prosecution of Kelly John Walker exemplifies the deliberate misuse of local
and federal authority to criminalize constitutionally protected dissent. The central “zip-tie”
allegation—amplified by district officials, national media, and ultimately the U.S.
Department of Justice—was conclusively disproven by the uncut 45-minute video showing
no threats, no restraints, and no disruption. Nevertheless, district staff submitted materially
false sworn statements, constituting perjury, while Walker was charged with Misdemeanor
3 Trespassing and later subjected to stacked misdemeanor charges. Notably, no felony
charges were brought, underscoring that the claims of violence were fabricated.

Walker’s role was reactive, not proactive—he joined the meeting only at the father’s request
to document events and help keep him calm. The documented de-escalation sequence
initiated by Walker—calls first to police, then to a Pima County Sheriff’s lieutenant, and
even to a state senator—proves Walker acted responsibly and lawfully. Moreover, FOIA
records and America First Legal’s disclosures confirm that federal actors, including DOJ
leadership, knowingly pursued a baseless pretext despite constitutional warnings from
their own attorneys. FOIA-released emails further demonstrate that Vail Superintendent
John Carruth coordinated with the National School Boards Association (NSBA) and the
White House to escalate the hoax narrative nationally, culminating in Attorney General
Merrick Garland’s October 4, 2021 memo directing the FBI to treat parents as potential
“domestic terrorists.” Internal DOJ records confirm that the memo lacked constitutional and
statutory basis, rendering the prosecution of Walker politically tainted and legally defective.

Justice requires vacating Walker’s conviction, pursuing perjury and malicious prosecution

charges against officials involved, and holding both local and federal actors civilly and
criminally accountable under 18 U.S.C. §§ 241 and 242 and 42 U.S.C. § 1983.

Step 1: Pre-Mesquite Targeting of a Whistleblower

The Mesquite incident did not occur in a vacuum. Long before September 2021, Vail School
District leaders—especially Superintendent John Carruth—had identified Kelly John Walker



as a dissenter to be neutralized.

Community whistleblower: Vail, Arizona business owner, Kelly Walker’s coffee shop, Viva
Coffee House, had become a gathering place during the covid era where parents reported
alarming concerns, including spikes in youth mental health struggles and suicide tied to
district covid policies. He amplified those concerns on social media, giving hundreds of
families a voice when the district would not. Walker also passed these concerns directly to
school administrators and board members, only to be ignored.

Prior targeting: Police records show that a day prior to a pivotal April 27, 2021 public
school board meeting, Carruth had already asked Pima County Sheriff's deputies to monitor,
profile and target Walker because of his platform and his voice, not for any behaviors. A
sheriff’s lieutenant pushed back, responding, “This isn’t the Soviet Union!” This exchange
demonstrates that Carruth and VUSD were already seeking to weaponize law enforcement
against Walker before any incident occurred, laying the groundwork for later false
narratives and escalations. It also shows that the district narrative that the meeting was
shut down due to threats from the parents was premeditated.
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Excerpts from Sherriff's report after April 27 board meeting showing District pre-
event orchestration of narrative

Pattern of escalation: By the time of the Mesquite Elementary office meeting in September,
district leaders had already branded Walker as an adversary. When a father sought help
over alleged mistreatment of his son, Walker responded. Instead of listening, district
leaders capitalized on the event to advance a narrative they had already prepared: painting
Walker—who had no criminal record or history of violence—as a dangerous agitator.

This context shows that the Mesquite incident was not simply misinterpreted—it was
weaponized. Vail officials had motive, having previously tried to sic law enforcement on
Walker for his advocacy. The false “zip-tie” storyline provided the perfect opportunity
to escalate their campaign against him into state and federal channels.



The Pima County Sheriff’s report from the April 27, 2021 Vail School Board meeting further
demonstrates this targeting. In the report, district staff accused Walker of being present
only to embarrass the District and gain a following:

“She [VUSD PR Director, Darcy Mentone] said that when the first arriving deputies got
there, she was explaining that the male from the Viva Coffee Shop, who did not have
children enrolled in the Vail District , was only there to get a bigger following and attempt to
embarrass the school board. She asked the deputies who first arrived to not arrest anyone
as that is what the Viva Coffee Shop owner was wanting.”

“She then advised all persons who would not wear a mask to leave and would not and said
they were trespassing at that point, although she reiterated again that she did not want
anyone arrested.”

This language reveals that VUSD officials had already framed Walker as an “instigator”
months before the Mesquite incident—Ilaying the groundwork for the later escalation of the
false “domestic terrorist” narrative into a federal pretext.

VUSD Funding Documentation: Federal Incentives and Mask Mandates

The context for Vail Unified School District’s aggressive enforcement of masking policies
cannot be ignored. Records show that VUSD received nearly **$5.5 million** in Elementary
& Secondary School Emergency Relief (ESSER I1I) funds, tied explicitly to CDC safety
recommendations—including the 'universal and correct wearing of masks.' This created a
financial incentive for the district to strictly enforce masking rules long after statewide
mandates were lifted. Dissenting parents like Walker represented not only a challenge to
local authority but a perceived threat to federal funding streams. In effect, children were
forced to endure prolonged mask policies to safeguard district revenue. (The Walkers, who
had previously had four children enrolled in the District, declined to re-enroll them after
covid school closures.)

100220000 |Vail Unified District $5,495,078.15

VUSD was paid big money to follow CDC
Safety Recommendations, including
"Universal and correct wearing of masks."

Has the LEA
CDC Safety Recommendations Adopted a Policy? Describe LEA Policy:
(Y/N)
Universal and correct wearing of masks Y VUSD acknowledges recommendations from the

CDC and local health agency, the Pima County
Health Department (PCHD). VUSD will adopt
changes to practices following CDC updates for



VUSD received nearly $5.5 million in ESSER III funds tied to CDC mask mandates.

Here is the Arizona Plan ESSER allocations, showing
Arizona receiving over $2.3 Billion in Covid-19

funds, with VUSD receiving nearly $5.5 Million.

Elementary & Secondary School Emergency Relief (ESSER I11) Fund
Total Award $2,582,098,697.00
Total Amount for Administrative Costs (.5%) $12,910,493.49
Total Amount for SEA Discretionary Activities (2.5%) $64,552,467.43
Total Initial Required Amount LEA Assistance (90% of Total Award)| $2,323,888,827.30
FY22 New & Expanding Charter LEA Reservation $10,000,000.00
Total Initial Amount LEA Assistance $2,313,888,827.30
Total Intial REVISED (to include FY22 New & E ding Charters) Amount for LEA Assi e $2,319,908,001.34
Total Amount for Title | Cohort Adj (from Total Amount for SEA Activities) $14,469,338.92
Total ESSER Il Fund Allocation for FY21 Title I-A LEAs (Original + Additional)* $2,334,377,340.35

Funding documentation reinforces CDC policy compliance incentives.

Step 2: The False Narrative Escalates (September 2021)

The Mesquite Elementary incident was documented on a 45-minute cellphone video
showing a tense but peaceful discussion. The video proves that Kelly John Walker never
raised his voice, never made threats, and no one was restrained. When the paperwork
requested by the parents was presented, the meeting ended, and participants left
immediately.

The record also shows that Walker did not instigate the Mesquite encounter but joined a
meeting already in progress at the request of the school father, who asked him to document
events and help keep him calm. Far from escalating, Walker led a sequence of de-escalation
that is documented in call logs and testimony. At approximately 10:04 a.m., the father first
called police to request assistance, but officers refused to respond. Walker then called a
Pima County Sheriff’s lieutenant and even a state senator to seek guidance. Acting on their
advice, Walker counseled the father to leave once the paperwork was produced—which
they did peacefully.

The father’s distress that day was not without cause. His young son had been forced to wear
a dirty mask pulled from a school trash can—an act both degrading and unsanitary. This
was not only a health risk but a form of humiliation inflicted on a child, fitting a broader
pattern of how Principal Vargo demeaned and mistreated children under her watch (see
Appendix D).

It was Walker—not law enforcement—who ensured the incident ended peacefully. Despite
the Tucson Police Department refusing to respond to the father’s initial call for help, the
situation de-escalated—not because of law enforcement intervention, but because of


https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=szYYszvaFJ8&t=3s

Walker’s presence and leadership. Walker contacted a sheriff’s lieutenant and a state
senator for guidance and then counseled the father to leave once the paperwork was
provided. His steady role in calming the situation was a major factor in the peaceful
outcome. This was later corroborated by a Sheriff’s officer who testified that he had no
concerns about Walker being a threat, confirming that Walker was not the aggressor but the
stabilizing influence.

It is also significant that the only individual who ever possessed zip ties, Tainatongo, held
them discreetly at his side for mere minutes before leaving the school grounds. He was
there only to collect his friend’s young son and take him home, and he left with the zip ties
in hand. Tainatongo was later given only a $250 fine and unsupervised probation—
underscoring that the fabricated “zip tie” narrative pinned on Walker was baseless from the
start.

Yet Tucson police reports and official statements told a very different story, riddled with
exaggerations and falsehoods:

False Police Reporting:

- Claimed the men “barged into” the principal’s office—the video shows the school father’s
son opened the door for them.

- Alleged that one father “snapped zip-ties” while threatening arrests—the video shows no
such thing; Frank Tainatongo briefly held ties at his side and removed them within minutes.

- Reported an “hour-long standoff”—the men left shortly after paperwork was provided.
- Claimed Walker challenged staff to a fight—no such exchange exists on the recording.

- Suggested staff were “terrified and unable to leave”— During court testimony, Vanessa
Farrar, an office clerk at Mesquite Elementary, gave a different story:

Defense Attorney:
“So for the next hour, hour and a half, you didn’t just sit there watching what was going
on, correct? You went about your business, correct?”

Farrar:
“I was still dealing with the situation...but yes, I continued making phone calls and
doing my job.”

Defense Attorney:

“There are people throughout that video, there are people milling about the office going
about their duties, correct?”

Farrar:

Defense Attorney:
“The staff wasn’t cowering in fear or running out the door, were they?”



Farrar:
MN 0. ”

Defense Attorney:
“Okay, have you seen the video? ...Ms. Vargo looks extraordinarily calm throughout the
video, correct?”

Staff Witness:
“Yes.”
Diane Vargo Testimony: Direct vs. Cross

Prosecution Direct Examination Defense Cross-Examination

Defense Attorney: “Mr. Walker never
threatened you personally, did he?”
Vargo: “No.”

Prosecutor: “It became very threatening.
How did that make you feel?”

Vargo: “I was threatened. I felt threatened. 1
was anxious. [ was scared. I was feeling very
vulnerable...how am I going to get out of this
situation?”

Defense Attorney: “At no point did he
attempt to put flex cuffs on you, correct?”

Vargo: “Correct.”

Superintendent John Carruth acknowledged in a staff email the very next day that the
incident “resolved peacefully and did not disrupt the learning environment.” Yet, both
Carruth and Principal Vargo painted a different picture to reporters—claiming men “barged
into my office,” “threatened to arrest” administrators, and left staff fearing for their lives.
The discrepancy is stark: rather than await a police report—and despite foreseeable
litigation—the district rushed to the media, pushing a guilty-before-innocent narrative.

*Note that Principal Vargo has a criminal record for serving alcohol to minors, as well
as reports by parents alleging child abuse (see Appendix D)

These facts demonstrate continuity: from a felony alcohol conviction to closet abuse
testimonies to the mask-detention incident, Vargo’s misconduct reflects a repeated pattern
of child endangerment. Under ARS 13-3623, each of these could constitute felony child
abuse. Parents thus acted with legally reasonable concern.



‘ ) John Ca:1ute

Dear Staff,

| am writing to you regarding an incident that
occurred at Mesquite Elementary School yesterday.
It is receiving significant media attention, and
gaining traction nationally. There is a report in

today's Washington Post about the incident. It is
the most read article of the day on their site. I've
attached a copy of the article below. It summarizes
the situation well.

How we respond in the moment of confrontation
has a direct effect on the outcome. Frankly, it is the
one thing we have most control over in tough
situations. Diane and her staff did an outstanding
job in controlling the situation. As a result, the
situation resolved peacefully, and there wasn't any
disruption to classrooms or learning at Mesquite

yesterday.

Step 3: Media Amplification Cements the Hoax
False Testimony by Staff

The fabricated narrative was further sustained by sworn statements from Mesquite
Elementary staff. In one protective order application, a staff member knowingly and
willfully submitted materially false testimony, asserting that the men barged in,

“...stating they were going to use [zip-ties] to cuff my hands and make a citizens’ arrest. I am
seriously concerned about my safety at work after this confrontation.”

This claim was demonstrably false. The full 45-minute cellphone video shows no such
statement was ever made. Walker never threatened to use zip-ties, and in fact, he did not
even have them in his possession.

When the matter came before the court, the fabrication collapsed. Under oath in Walker’s
criminal trial, multiple witnesses—including Principal Vargo—conceded that Walker never
threatened her and never attempted to use zip tie flex cuffs.

This sworn misrepresentation constitutes perjury and the presentation of materially false
statements to law enforcement and the courts. Rather than being corrected, these lies were
relied upon to reinforce a hoax narrative, justify criminal prosecution, and escalate the
matter into the federal system.



courts, claiming the fathers
"stat[ed] they were going to use
[zip ties] to cuff my hands and
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The video proves this to be a lie

(perjury).

National headlines quickly codified the lie:

“An Anti-Masker Just Tried to Zip-Tie a School Principal” (VICE)
“His dad and 2 men confronted the principal with zip-ties” (Washington Post)
“Zip-tie handcuffs... threatening a ‘citizen’s arrest’ (The Guardian)

Even as outlets admitted “Vargo wasn’t harmed” (iHeart), the fabricated “zip-tie attempt”
dominated coverage, cementing Walker as a symbol of parent extremism.

Step 4: District Pushes Prosecution

On Sept. 7, 2021, Vail Superintendent John Carruth went on television to declare:

“We are aggressively pursuing all legal avenues...doing everything within our power to make
sure they are held accountable....” (KGUN9 Tucson)

This was not a neutral stance but a calculated signal: the Vail School District was intent on
criminalizing dissenting parents. Superintendent John Carruth made good on that threat,
escalating the fabricated narrative up to the NSBA, as later reflected in emails obtained
through FOIA.



Step 5: NSBA & Federal Escalation

One such email—sent by Steven Chapman, NSBA Pacific Region Board of Directors—parrots
Carruth’s talking points. It begins by recycling the fabricated narrative about the April 27,
2021 Vail school board meeting, moves on to the zip-tie hoax, and presumes without
evidence that staff were in physical danger.

Email - Steven Chapman
Date: Saturday, October 2, 2021, 12:11:18 AM CDT

My hope for a letter like this, or any letter that we are going to send to the
President of the United States and push through a press release is at least reviewed
by the executive committee.

That being said, in Arizona earlier this year a governing board was forced to leave
their boardroom due to security issues with those in attendance. After the board
and staff left the room, those in the audience decided that it would be alright for
them to stage their own board meeting, elect new board members, and vote on
their own items. A month or so ago, we had an individual film himself with a
parent and that parent’s student on their way to a school site with a pair of zip-tie
handcuffs to arrest a principal for enforcing a quarantine policy that was
approved by the county and state. And these are just a few of several examples just
in my state. These are not acts of concerned parents, nor should they be dismissed
as just one off situations.

I agree that if a board meeting remains civil, and the community is at the
microphone during public comment criticizing board/district decisions,
threatening to recall or vote them out, that it is fair game whether we agree on
their rationale or not. But when it becomes more, it needs to be taken seriously. We
have seen what happens when it is not taken seriously.

We need to be mindful of the political ramifications of any action or inaction we
take, but we also cannot shy away from every controversial issue. No elected
official or public servant should be in physical danger because of the work they do.

Steven Chapman

Board of Directors, Pacific Region | NSBA
Immediate Past President | ASBA

Immediate Past Chair | NSBA Pacific Region
Past President, Board Member | Tolleson UHSD

But the narrative quickly unraveled. On October 22, 2021, the NSBA board itself admitted
error:

“We regret and apologize for the letter...there was no justification for some of the language
included.”



Days later, fourteen state attorneys general condemned the entire thing as a “massive
fraud against the American people” in their October 26, 2021 letter to Biden and Garland.

Even the NSBA ultimately acknowledged what was plain: the entire narrative was
unsubstantiated. That reality invalidates the DOJ’s subsequent actions to tag parents as
“domestic terrorists.”

The record is clear: the “danger” narrative began locally with Vail Superintendent
John Carruth, was echoed by Chapman at the NSBA, and then weaponized federally.
NSBA and DOJ communications later confirmed no actual evidence of violence ever
existed.

At the epicenter of this manufactured scandal was the vilification, targeting, and
prosecution of Kelly John Walker—a case study in how a fabricated narrative was elevated
into federal policy. Despite the collapse of the “zip-tie” hoax and the NSBA’s own admission
that its letter was unjustified, Walker’s 2022 conviction and sentencing went forward. This
miscarriage of justice underscores the danger of weaponized government, where falsehoods
are used to criminalize dissent. It is past time that Walker be vindicated.

Men With Zip-Ties Ambush School
Principal Over GOVID Rules
| ‘MAKING A STAND" |

Justin Rohrlich

Yyesterdgay

E Pima County Democratic Party

This Vail dad attempted to zip tie the principal

at Mesquite Elementary, and he live streamed
it on his Instagram acct. How much longer do
we have to be threatened by these violent and
radicalized criminals?

The conclusion is inescapable—a false and perjurious narrative was deliberately spread to
the media, NSBA, and the federal government in order to silence and prosecute parents.

The chain of escalation is now documented: Carruth promoted a fabricated narrative locally
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— Chapman and NSBA amplified it nationally in internal communications — DOJ acted on it
as a predicate for federal action.

Step 6: Garland’s Political Approval

FOIA-released NSBA emails already prove the September 29, 2021 NSBA letter was not
spontaneous, but drafted in coordination with the Biden White House and at the request of
Biden Education Secretary Miguel Cardona. Documents later uncovered by America First
Legal (AFL) reveal something even more damning:

Attorney General Merrick Garland knew the memo was unconstitutional, DOJ career
lawyers warned against it, and yet he approved it anyway.

Internal DOJ Warnings

Oct. 1,2021: DOJ Counsel Tamarra Matthews-Johnson flagged the NSBA letter to Kevin
Chambers in the Deputy AG’s office. Chambers admitted:

“We’re aware; the challenge here is finding a federal hook. But WH has been in touch about
whether we can assist in some form or fashion.”

One of the most revealing FOIA emails came on October 2, 2021, when Sparkle Sooknanan
from the DO]J’s Associate Attorney General’s Office directed staff to:

“Identify any authorities...that could help address the issue.”

This single line is pivotal. It shows that DO]J officials were actively searching for any
legal theory, statute, or partnership mechanism to justify federal involvement in
cases that were otherwise local. By issuing this directive, DOJ leadership invited
collaboration between federal and local authorities, ensuring that prosecutions of
parents—even when carried out by municipal or county courts—were effectively
federally guided and federally pressured.

For Kelly John Walker, this meant that although his case was nominally handled in
Tucson, it was influenced and shaped by the federal framework created by Garland’s
memo. In practice, the DOJ had already set the tone: dissenting parents were to be
treated as threats.

Thus, Walker’s prosecution—like others around the country—was federal in origin,
local in appearance.

Oct. 3, 2021: Career DOJ attorneys objected:

“We are ramping up an awful lot of federal manpower for what is currently non-federal
conduct.”

Garland’s Political Override

Despite those warnings, by early October 4, a draft memo was circulated.
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Language was massaged to strip out election-related references but left intact the chilling

directive to treat parent protests as potential threats. That same day, Garland issued his

now-infamous memo directing U.S. Attorneys and the FBI to treat school board dissent as a

national security matter.

The Smoking Gun

AFL’s findings supply the missing link:

- Normal legal channels were bypassed.

- Internal DOJ objections were overruled.

- The memo was driven not by evidence, but by a political request from the White House.
Why It Matters

The sequence is now undeniable:

1. Vail officials fabricated a local “zip-tie” hoax.

2. NSBA and Chapman amplified it nationally.

3. The White House and Secretary Cardona pressed NSBA to act.

4. Garland approved a federal crackdown—despite knowing it was unconstitutional.
At the epicenter of this chain was Kelly John Walker, whose targeting, prosecution, and

sentencing epitomize how a fabricated narrative was weaponized into federal lawfare
against parents.

Step 7: Federal Targeting of Walker Despite Exculpatory Evidence

Going back to 2022, Tucson Senior Judge Anthony Riojas, after reviewing the Mesquite
video, dismissed early trespass claims, noting:

“He never raised his voice... What he did is he disagreed with you. That’s not disorderly
conduct... Citizens have the right to disagree.”

Despite this exculpatory finding, Walker faced months of prosecution. Fourteen Tucson
Police Department officers cycled through the case, and the FBI investigated him as a
violent threat—all on the heels of the Garland memo.

The original charge against Walker was Misdemeanor 3 Trespassing—delivered late on a
Sunday night by five Tucson police officers in a show of force clearly meant to intimidate.

Prosecutors later piled on three additional misdemeanors in a desperate attempt to prop up

their case and reinforce the false “domestic terrorist” narrative.
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But the truth is undeniable: if the allegations of zip-ties, threats, or violence had
contained even a shred of truth, felony charges would have been automatic. The fact
that prosecutors could only invent and stack flimsy misdemeanors proves the case was built
on fabrication.

The uncut 45-minute video left no doubt: no violence, no threats, no crime—only a hoax
inflated for political purposes.

Yet despite Judge Riojas’s clear exculpatory findings, controversial junior magistrate Geri
Hale later contradicted him—reviving charges and siding with the prosecution. This
contradicted precedent and reflected the very concerns already documented about Hale’s
judicial temperament and disregard for due process.

Tucson City Council reappoints judge

despite commission's recommendation

Nicole Ludden Mar 9, 2021 Updated Jan 20, 2022

T he Tucson City Council voted unanimously Tuesday to reappoint Magistrate
Geraldine Hale despite a recommendation from the city magistrate commission

it should avoid doing so.

The decision from the mayor and council was spotlighted after the City Magistrate
Merit Selection Commission, a review board that both recommends candidates and

reviews the performance of Tucson City Court judges, made the rare recommendation

on Feb. 11 that the City Council vote against reappointing Hale to another term, with a

salary of $112,000 a year.

The commission said it spoke to more than 35 prosecutors, public defenders, judges
and defense attorneys from the city and county who spoke against Hale’s
reappointment, citing what they said was her erratic temperament and lack of basic

legal knowledge.

City magistrates must face a review panel in order to retain their position for another

term. When reviewing Hale’s performance, the magistrate commission found reports

of the judge being abusive toward parties and counsels, having trouble understandi

basic legal principles and failing to afford due process to defendants who come b
her.

Magistrate Hale rebuked for abuse, incompetence, and denial of due process—yet
reappointed before sentencing Walker.

Walker’s wife later described the ordeal in stark terms:

"We along with hundreds and hundreds of other parents were concerned about the
wellbeing of our children and those disgusting people at the district wanted to sweep it
under the rug and only get a pat on the back for ‘good Covid policy.” But then it wasn’t
just that but suicides and mental health of kids at risk and they refused to listen and
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shut us all down. Hiding suicide and abuse is evil. Yet we were punished. Worse than
punished.”

Walker’s sentencing further underscores the punitive nature of this campaign. Despite the
absence of violence or threats, he was singled out by Hale for a harsh “Class of One”
punishment—100 days in jail and nearly $10,000 in so-called restitution fines. This stands
in stark contrast to the outcome for Frank Tainatongo, the parent who actually held the zip-
ties, who received only a $250 fine and unsupervised probation. The disparity reveals that
Walker’s real “crime” was speaking out, and his punishment was intended as a warning to
other parents.

Walker’s 100-day jail sentence and nearly $10,000 restitution stand in sharp contrast to
Frank Tainatongo’s mere $250 fine and unsupervised probation, despite his being the only
person who briefly possessed the zip ties. This selective enforcement exemplifies a textbook
Equal Protection violation under the 'Class of One' doctrine.

Step 8: Threats Against a Family—Ignored by Authorities

The fabricated narrative spawned real danger. Walker and his family received multiple
death threats and intimidation, that to this day have gone uninvestigated, such as letters
mailed to home addresses:

“You are a horrible human being and someone is now coming for YOU with zip ties. How does
it feel? You don’t deserve to be a dad...in fact, maybe you shouldn’t be. | would keep a close eye
on your kid. Not just in these next few weeks, but these next few years. The scum of the earth
(you) doesn’t deserve to be a father so I will be taking that away from you.”

“Your husband likes zip ties? I would run. Run away from him and the life he’s made you lead.
Get away from the danger he has put you in. I will be there and I will find him. I will find you if
you stay. He has done this to you. He has always put you in bad situations. The time has come
for you to leave. That way you don’t get hurt too.”

“Your cute little coffee shop will be destroyed. I will make sure of that. I will be waiting for you
with zip ties when you are by yourself. Don’t worry, it won’t be soon. When all of this dies
down, that’s when I will get you. My zip ties are police grade—that’s how you like it right?
That noise you hear? That's me. I'm here.”

Flyers branded him a “Nazi pig” and called for boycotting his family’s business.
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BOYCOTT VIVA COFFEE HOUSEy

THE OWNER OF VIVA COFFEE HOUSF 1s
RIGHT-WING Y:"'v:):m cHs
HE IGNORANTLY SHOWED UP AT
A RECENT SCHOOL BOARD MEETING
TAKING AN IDIOTIC ANTI-MASK STANCE
ANDSTUPIDLY THREATENED TO MAKE A
“CITIZENS ARREST

Hey #Tucson

The owner of Viva Coffes
on Valencia in Tucson

: 3 TRIED TO ZIP-TIE A PRINCIPAL AT A
ON THOSE IN AT SCHOOL

ENDANCE WHO WERE.
EXPRESSING

A PRO-MASK MANDATE. because they tried to protect kids during a pandemic.

HE IS A BIGOT, A RACIST, AN ANTE How’s THAT for some nazi rape fantasy bulishit?
VAXXER, CLEARLY MENTALLY
UNSTABLE MAN AND THE EX
COMMUNITY NEEDS TO KNOW HEISA
RIGHT-WING NAZI PIG.

Viva Coffee - Your Neighbor

Where every dollar spent can help turn Tucson into
1939 Germany
HE DESERVES TO BE SHUT uowl_'AN.
NOT PROFIT FROM HIS §
IGNORANCE.

Where guys like this run around in brownshirts
Jumping educators DOING THEIR JOB!

The individual who mailed these letters threatening murder is still at large, ostensibly still
seeking Walker and his family to do them harm. Yet the FBI refused to investigate these and
other credible threats. Instead, federal resources were diverted to target Walker himself—
an innocent father—under a hoax narrative manufactured by school officials and amplified
at the national level.

Copies to¢
Ariaons Dty Stat
Imide Tecson Busieen

Judicial Misconduct and Retaliatory Sentencing

Walker’s unusually harsh punishment—100 days in jail and nearly $10,000 in fines—came
from Magistrate Geraldine Hale. This same judge had already been the subject of a rare
rebuke by the City Magistrate Merit Selection Commission, which explicitly recommended
against her reappointment. The commission cited Hale for being *“abusive toward parties
and counsels, having trouble understanding basic legal principles, and failing to afford due
process to defendants.”* Despite this, the Tucson City Council unanimously reappointed her
shortly before Walker’s trial.

The fact that Walker’s case was decided under a judge with a documented history of abuse
and denial of due process underscores that his sentence was not only a 'Class of One'
punishment but also the product of systemic lawfare designed to silence dissent.

Conclusion

This case is not only about exonerating Walker but also about setting precedent: fabricated
local hoaxes must never again be weaponized into federal 'domestic terrorism' pretexts.
Walker’s family endured credible death threats while federal resources were diverted to
persecute him—an intolerable abuse of power.

Kelly John Walker’s prosecution was not an isolated injustice but part of a broader

campaign to weaponize government power against parents who dared to dissent. Local
officials fabricated claims—most notably the “zip-tie” hoax—memorialized them in false
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reports and perjured testimony, and carried them forward until they were amplified
nationally by the media, the NSBA, and ultimately the DOJ. FOIA documents prove that Vail
Superintendent John Carruth’s narrative was elevated through NSBA correspondence,
coordinated with the White House, and directly cited in Attorney General Garland’s October
4 memo—despite DOJ lawyers warning it was unconstitutional and baseless.

Meanwhile, the FBI ignored credible death threats against Walker’s family even as it
targeted him as a supposed “domestic terrorist.” Prosecutors stacked fabricated
misdemeanors, while felony charges were conspicuously absent—confirming the
allegations of threats and violence were a sham. Walker was treated as a “Class of One,”
punished with 100 days in jail and nearly $10,000 in fines, while the parent who actually
held the zip ties received only a $250 penalty. This selective enforcement was designed not

to protect safety, but to silence speech.

Even the judiciary reflected this bias: Senior Magistrate Riojas acknowledged Walker’s
conduct was lawful disagreement, yet Magistrate Geraldine Hale—formally cited for abuse
and denial of due process—contradicted him and imposed sentence. Beyond the politics
and lawfare, families bore the heaviest cost. As Walker’s wife testified, district leaders hid
suicides and abuse while punishing parents who spoke out.

This case proves how a manufactured narrative can be escalated from a local school district
to the highest levels of federal power. Justice requires not only Walker’s vindication, but
also accountability for officials who perjured themselves, maliciously prosecuted citizens,
and conspired to criminalize constitutionally protected dissent. The lesson is clear: never
again must hoaxes be weaponized to silence the American people.

Appendix A: Claims vs. Truth

Claim (Police/Prosecution/School/Media)
“Parents barged into the office with
military-grade black zip ties.”

“An Anti-Masker tried to zip-tie a principal
over COVID rules.”

“The incident caused terror and disrupted
the learning environment.”

“Parents threatened to arrest
administrators.”

Truth (Video/Testimony/Records)

Video shows school father’s son opened the
door. Walker never touched zip ties;
Tainatongo briefly held them, then
removed them within minutes. There is no
such thing as 'military grade’ zip ties.

No one was zip-tied, threatened, or
touched. No staff mentioned zip ties or
expressed fear during the encounter.

Superintendent Carruth’s email the next
day admitted it ended peacefully and did
not disrupt classrooms. Students and staff
moved freely. The school was not locked
down.

Walker conditionally said, 'We can and we
will make a citizen’s arrest,’ if unlawful
conduct continued. No attempt or threat
was made.
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“There was an hour-long standoff.”

“Walker challenged staff to a fight.”

)

“Staff were terrified and unable to leave.’

“This proved parents were dangerous
extremists.”

The video shows the men left within
minutes once paperwork was provided.
Police refused to respond to the parents’
call and only came later.

No such exchange occurred. The 45-minute
recording shows calm, rights-based
discussion and attempts to de-escalate.

Testimony confirmed routine work
continued. Clerk Vanessa Farrar testified
no one was cowering in fear or running out
the door.

Judge Riojas dismissed early trespass
claims, noting: 'Citizens have the right to
disagree.' No threats, no violence, no crime.

Appendix B: Testimony vs. Video Evidence

Sworn/Testimonial Statement

“..stating they were going to use [zip ties]
to cuff my hands and make a citizens’
arrest. I am seriously concerned about my
safety at work after this confrontation.”
(Mesquite staff sworn statement, Sept.
2021)

VUSD and staff suggested parents caused
an 'hour-long standoff' and chaos in the
office.

Police/prosecution claimed Walker
'challenged staff to a fight.'

Video Evidence / Reality

The full 45-minute video proves no such
statement was made. Walker never
referenced zip ties, and no staff mentioned
or reacted to them during the encounter.

The video shows a short meeting ending
once paperwork was provided; participants
left calmly. Routine office work continued
uninterrupted.

No such exchange appears in the recording.
Walker calmly cited constitutional rights
and attempted to de-escalate.

Appendix C: Contradictions in Official Narrative

Narrative Claim

Walker threatened Principal Vargo
and attempted to zip-tie her.

Q: “At no point did he attempt to put
flex cuffs on you, correct?”

Testimony / Record Evidence

Diane Vargo, under oath: “Mr. Walker never
threatened me personally.”
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Narrative Claim Testimony / Record Evidence

A: “Correct.”

Staff were terrified, cowering, or Vanessa Farrar, office clerk, under oath:
fleeing the office.

Q: “The staff wasn’t cowering in fear
or running out the door, were they?”

A: “No.”

She confirmed routine work
continued.

Superintendent John Carruth email to staff, Sept. 3,

The incident disrupted classrooms 2021

and learning at Mesquite.

“...the situation resolved peacefully,
and there wasn'’t any disruption to
classrooms or learning at Mesquite

yesterday.”

Video evidence: 45 minutes show calm but tense
Incident was chaotic, dangerous, discussion, no raised voices, no threats, no restraint,
and akin to domestic terrorism. and participants leaving peacefully once paperwork

was provided.

Appendix D: Parent and Student Voices

This appendix supplements the record with fuller quotes from parents, students,
community members, and law enforcement regarding conditions in Vail Unified School
District and the Mesquite incident. It demonstrates that parents and students consistently
raised legitimate concerns about abuse, neglect, and mistreatment, and that law
enforcement itself recognized Mr. Walker was not a threat.

Parent Testimony

“John Carruth is a liar. He hides things and manipulates people.”

“Carruth doesn’t care about our kids—he cares about covering for the district.”

“The board’s heard me. Multiple times. They know who I am for sure. I don’t feel unheard. I
feel ignored and labeled as crazy.”

“They forced my son to put on a dirty mask from the trash. That’s child abuse.”
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“Diane Vargo locked kids in closets—twice—and nothing was done about it.”
“These are children, not pawns in your funding game.”

“We were treated like criminals for speaking up about our kids’ mental health.”
“We come here begging for help, and you look at us like we’re the problem.”

“Kids in this district are killing themselves. We told you at Viva, and you swept it under the

”

rug.
“How many more children have to die before you stop hiding the truth?”

“Over 200 parents came to speak to say you are hurting our children.”

“And they have the audacity to leave when we come here as people to talk to them. These
are my rights as a parent, and they don’t get to decide how I choose to raise them and what |
believe is true and factual.”

“It’s disgusting what’s being done and I don’t agree with it. I'm frustrated that my children
are being forced to wear a mask every day for seven to eight hours ... it's not okay

anymore.”

“We told John Carruth ... we’ve reported these stories ... a family whose child was put on
suicide watch ... No mother should ever have to put their child on suicide watch.”

Student Testimony

“I was put on suicide watch because I couldn’t handle it anymore. The masks, the way we
were treated, everything. They put the suicide hotline number on our student IDs, but that
doesn’t fix it. That’s not real help. I felt like they didn’t care if I lived or died, just aslong as |

followed their rules.”

“I've suffered from migraines, but ever since I've been wearing a mask, it started to happen
more often....”

“Personally | have chronic acne and [ have to wear medication on my face ... when [ wear a
mask the medication tends to melt and runs into my nose and mouth ... I tried to talk to

teachers ... they just tell me it’s policy.”

“We felt depressed, sad, upset because we don’t have social life or peer support ... Instead of
adding counseling, why don’t you just remove the tool [masks] or make it optional?”

“I shouldn’t be here again. Why do I have to re-speak myself? That just tells me that you
weren't listening the first time.”

Law Enforcement and Judicial Observations

A Pima County Sheriff’s lieutenant, when asked to pre-target Walker at the April 27, 2021
board meeting, reportedly pushed back: “This isn’t the Soviet Union!”
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A Sheriff’s officer later testified: “I had no concerns about Mr. Walker being a threat.”

Judge Anthony Riojas, after reviewing the video, concluded: “He never raised his voice...
What he did is he disagreed with you. That’s not disorderly conduct... Citizens have the right
to disagree.”

Suicide and Mental Health Crises

“That’s what happened at Micah Mountain. A boy jumped off the top of the bleachers and
killed himself. A boy had a speech ... he was denied the ability to speak because they shut
down that meeting and then they portrayed us as violent and hostile.”

“We had a kid in our neighborhood go out in the desert and shoot himself ... we have been
telling the school district for months and months that we have a mental health crisis.”

“Because when your kids are put on suicide watch, and nobody will change ... that’s
tyranny.”

Appendix E: Principal Vargo’s Record and the Reasonableness of
Parental Fears

Evidence establishes that Principal Diane Vargo had a documented history of misconduct
and child endangerment that the District chose to conceal rather than confront. Public
records confirm she carried a felony conviction for serving alcohol to minors
(Administrative Office of Courts, Jan. 11, 1999). Testimony in Walker’s trial further revealed
at least two separate incidents in which she locked children in closets and forgot about
them.

In one case, a mother wrote: “She locked my baby in a supply closet and forgot about
her... we found my daughter hysterically crying, barely able to talk, thinking she was
going to be left there forever” (Mother #1, 2004). The parent reported: “Instead of being
disciplined... the principal swept it under the rug,” saying “it won’t happen again.”
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“She was hyperventilating...barely able to talk”

“[Diane Vargo] locked my baby in a supply closet
and forgot about her. The principal promised us it

would never happen again.”
Mother #1, 2004

hey viva! | just sent an email to Diane vargo. she was my daughter’s teacher
many years ago. I'm honestly shocked that she has been promoted to principal!

teacher she dlsmlssed the dass and left' my chlld was in a dark closet alone
and terrified! | was in the parent pick up area waiting for 20 minutes before |
finally went to the classroom to look for my child. When | got there it was dark
and empty. | turned around to leave and that's when Diane came walking up and |
asked her where my daughter was. she looked surprised and said "oh my gosh

i And showed me to the closet. W_LMMMEB_'!M

Thank you for sharing that with me, Would you be willing to discuss it
with me, confidentially? This lady is a sick child abuser with a criminal record for
buying alcohol for minors. She needs to be far away from children. Kelly

To. vargod@Pvailschooldistrict org,

CC/BCC, From livvie_03@yahoo com

We havent forgotten

Shocking! It's unbelievable 10 me that you
have been promoted 1o prncipal. Do you
remember locking my child in a supply

closet and about her? | sure do'
Her name is You locked her in
there alone and about her. | sat out

in the parent pickup area for 30 minutes
before | finally went the the classroom
When | got there it was dark and empty |
tumed around 1o find you walking up and |
asked you where my daughter was You
said “oh WA showed me 10 the

%'anmm
ally, thinking she was being
left there forever

It's obvious to me

Sent from Yahoo Mail on Androwd

Do you want your name kept confidential?

Sent by Kelly Walker
| am not afraid of anyone. Nothing to hide when you speak the truth. You can share
anything | tell you.

worse
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But it did. A second parent came forward to reveal that in 2011, Vargo had locked her
special needs child in a closet.

This time, a special needs
child was locked in a closet.

My daughter was put in a
closet there too

Whoa! Same school? \
Yes 1
20m
_M [ ——
| f‘
"S' I

It's time for a CRIMINAL
investigation.

/
7
The Mesquite Elementary confrontation in September 2021 was not an isolated event but a
repeat of a pattern. Only months earlier, Vargo had held another 7-year-old boy in her
office for refusing to wear a mask. The distraught mother sought help at Viva Coffee

House, where Walker and others organized a peaceful protest outside the school to
demand the release of the child.

Parents consistently reported that they felt silenced, dismissed, or ridiculed when they
expressed their concerns for their children’s wellbeing to the District. As one mother wrote
in May 2021: “The board’s heard me. Multiple times... I feel ignored and labeled as
crazy.”

22



"I feel ignored [by the Board] and labeled as
crazy." Mother #3, May, 2021

Same here. I've put a ton of
work into it as well. Will you
be able to make it to our

town hall meeting tonight
starting at 67 The goal is to
give you the voice the board
denied you

Most likely yes. Thanks
for the invite Hi~ Hope you and your
son are doing well. | didn't
get his name, but I'd like to
do something special for

And ohhhhh the board's
heard me. Multiple
times. They know who |

am for sure. | don't feel him. | know the past week
unheard. | feel ignored has been twisty and
and labeled as crazy emotional. I'm not a very

political person, | just care
about others, and some of

GO KELLY GO! Booyah!!! the power struggles going

Friggin hero!!!! Wish | on to me are so much less

could have seen Diane

important than getting
' vargo shit herself people like your family help
v and support.

Walker’s own messages show his opposite posture: “The power struggles going on to me
are so much less important than getting people like your family help and support.”
Parents recognized him for stepping into leadership when school officials failed—one even
calling him a “friggin hero.”

Under these circumstances, when fathers heard that another child was being detained by
Vargo, it was objectively reasonable for them to fear that felony child abuse under ARS 13-
3623 could be occurring. That statute defines it as a Class 2 felony to place a child in
circumstances that endanger their health or wellbeing. Arizona law also provides a citizen’s
arrest authority under ARS 13-3884, which allows a private person to act when they have
reasonable grounds to believe a felony is being committed.

Thus, the fathers’ response—including the brief presence of zip-tie restraints, held
discreetly at one father’s side and never displayed in a threatening manner—was not
unwarranted. It reflected a legitimate precaution in a situation that, in light of Vargo’s
history, could reasonably have been unfolding at the felony level. Importantly, the fathers
then followed a documented sequence of de-escalation: the parent first called police at
10:04 a.m. and was told officers would not respond; Walker then called a sheriff’s lieutenant
and a state senator for guidance; and, after receiving their advice, he counseled the father to
leave peacefully—which they did once the paperwork was provided.

Taken together, these facts demonstrate that the Vail Unified School District spent years

protecting and covering for an administrator with a record of harming children, while
criminalizing parents who acted reasonably to safeguard their families.
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